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DEDICATION


The Battle of Long Tan on 18 August 1966 was a savage action in which 108 men of my former Delta Company 6RAR, supported by artillery, fought off an enemy regiment of four regular Viet Cong and NVA battalions. My company sadly lost 17 killed and 23 wounded, but the enemy’s casualties were in the order of 500 killed and 800 wounded. The battle was applauded as the most savage company action of the Australian involvement and was later selected by the Vietnam Veterans Association of Australia as their icon of the war. But the gallantry awards recommended by my officers and me were reduced by half. So began another battle which lasted another 50 plus years, the battle for the proper recognition of my men. This book was my life story and the story of my battle to seek proper recognition of my men.


I dedicate this story…


To the officers and men and women in the Armed Services, especially those of 1 and 2 Commando Companies, the Parachute School and the RAN Diving School who at various times, since I was a School Cadet in 1945, set me on a course which led me to achievements that had a profound effect on my most unusual military career in the Infantry Corps and Special Forces.


To my officers and soldiers who fought the Battle of Long Tan and all those who helped me to train my company, which led us to survive the battle. And to those who have supported me in my battle for awards justice, particularly Dave Sabben MG; Bob Buick MM; Bill Akell (MID – denied an MM) and Bill Roche (denied an MID).


To my three children Deborah, Sharon and Brett, and sisters Bev and Joan. May this story help you better understand your father and brother.


This book was originally intended as my life story for my family, but I was persuaded by journalist Toni McRae to expand it to include more of the Battle of Long Tan and its legacy. Toni helped me compile my story until she lost a battle with health in 2014. I also dedicate this book to her memory.


Now age 86, I can say I have had a wonderful life in the Army and in my sailing exploits. I have some regrets about my early personal life but I thank my present partner and wife of 18 years, Felicia, for all her support through my long fight for proper recognition for my officers and soldiers and for her love and company on our many sailing cruises up to lovely Lizard Island, Far North Queensland.


In my story about the fight for proper recognition of my men at Long Tan, where the number of recommended awards was cut in half and half of those remaining were downgraded, I quote the Vietnam Official History 1993, which states: ‘The awards were little short of insulting for the heroism displayed.’ I make no excuses for criticising the former senior officers who managed the Vietnam awards system which saw those furthest from the action claiming awards which should have gone to those who fought in combat with the enemy. I acknowledge the 1974 Military History Association Australia book by Ian Barnes, Australian Gallant and Distinguished Service, Vietnam, which has provided me with facts, information and philosophy about the questionable awards system in Vietnam.


My battles include my personal battle with my private life, the battle against the enemy at Long Tan, the battle against the bureaucracy for awards justice, my battle with prostate cancer at age 75 and again in 2017, and the battle against critics and detractors who would ‘cut down tall poppies’.


While I have been mostly successful in the battle to get my men recognition, along with those who supported us, I hope that those who read this book will be provided with a greater understanding of their courage – in itself a recognition, even if not official.


This revised edition serves to correct errors and glitches in the first edition; to update the revised enemy version of the battle, courtesy Veteran and linguist Brigadier Ernie Chamberlain CSC (Retd); to update the Honours and Awards Review process, and to outline the 50th Anniversary events in Australia and Vietnam.




FOREWORD


From June 2005 I had the honour to serve as the Shadow Minister for Veterans’ Affairs and then as Minister from late 2007 until September 2010.Over that period of more than five years I was privileged to gain an insight into our defence forces, past and present, the men and women who have served our country, their families and the price they have all paid for that service. I learnt of tremendous courage and sacrifice, as well as the tragedy of war. I have also seen the injustice of war, both at home and abroad.


Throughout this time there were many complex issues that came to my attention. Some were resolved, some could not be, others continue to be a matter of public debate. One such issue was the question of gallantry awards resulting from the Battle of Long Tan. The iconic nature of Long Tan has ensured it will always have a special place in the history of our nation’s war in Vietnam. The scale of the battle, the number of casualties, the heroic defence in the face of overwhelming opposition have meant this is so.


However, Long Tan’s significance has extended beyond the battle itself. It has become symbolic in ways that do not reflect well on the operation of our military in times past. This goes to the very question of how a nation should honour and recognise those who have given so much. It is true that war is a brutal endeavour and those who are rightly recognised and honoured only account for a percentage of those who should be. It is also true that many factors come into play in deciding who is honoured, and ‘luck’ in many ways plays its part. However, the fact that many who should be honoured are not, because the circumstances do not allow it, does not excuse us from properly honouring those whose valour is recognised and put forward for appropriate decoration. It was this injustice that led my colleague and friend Graham Edwards MP to raise this matter in Parliament and ensure that I and others understood the need for action.


The work of Harry Smith and his men to ensure that those who performed extraordinarily in the rubber plantation at Long Tan are properly honoured has highlighted the manifestly unfair operation of the awards system at the time and the unwillingness of many of those in authority to deal with this issue since then. Harry’s story is one of stubborn and dogged determination to right a wrong – an unwillingness to give ground borne of a fierce commitment to stay the course for a just outcome. The character he has displayed in seeking a fair result for his men is no more than what those of us who know him would expect. As he showed throughout his military career, Harry remains a man who will always fight for what he believes in and will always stick to his guns. Although I have not always agreed with him, I have always respected him and always known he will keep facing forward, no matter the cost!


Alan Griffin MP
Former Minister for Veterans’ Affairs




FOREWORD


Graham ‘Stumpy’ Edwards lost both legs to a mine in Vietnam in 1970. He was instrumental in obtaining the Tanzer Review in 1999 which upgraded six awards approved in the 1998 Review and was always supportive of a review of Long Tan awards. He is a Member of the Australian War Memorial Board.


As a young man growing up in Australia I had a strong belief in the concept of a fair go for all.


Nothing tested my childhood belief as I grew older more than the disgraceful treatment of bravery awards for those who fought in Vietnam.


Many diggers who served there were overlooked or bypassed as statutory medals were handed out to senior officers for a job well done.


None were treated more unfairly than Harry Smith and those who fought with him and supported his actions during the Battle of Long Tan.


It makes an interesting comment on our system of bravery awards when the highest awards for that battle went to officers who arrived at the ground after the last shot had been fired.


Harry Smith has fought the good fight ever since the records were revealed to show how his recommendations for bravery were downgraded, scrubbed or just ignored.


Is it any wonder a bloke like Harry has been back in the fight with authority on behalf of those whose bravery was ignored in that iconic battle which demonstrated the highest traditions of our ANZAC heritage.


I was pleased to support Harry in his battle during my time in the Federal Parliament. Veterans Affairs Minister Alan Griffin also picked up the cudgel on Harry’s behalf because we recognised that this was a man still fighting for justice on behalf of his diggers.


I stood next to Harry during a recent closing ceremony at the Australian War Memorial. It was a sad occasion and I watched Harry during that brief ceremony. For a brief and fleeting moment Harry let his guard down and I saw a man in the emotion of the moment. A man still moved by the fierce battle in which he fought and led with great courage and tenacity. A man still feeling the loss of the soldiers around him but determined to fight for justice for those who survived. A man burdened and saddened by the death of those he commanded. A man who felt his diggers were let down by those who turned their backs on a Fair Go.


You are a man, Harry, and I cannot pay a higher Australian compliment than that.


Graham Edwards AM
Former ALP Member for Cowan, WA






PRELUDE TO BATTLE:


18 AUGUST 1966


BY TONI MCRAE


The soft swish swish of the 2-m tall elephant grass brushed against their sweaty wet greens; it was the bloody red mud sucking at their boots and the consistent slashing of 12 Platoon’s alternating lead section’s machetes that made the soldiers’ 3000-m trudge to Long Tan punishing.


In the blistering heat the 108 travelled in single file. They were sleep-deprived. On 13 August they had been ordered out on a long patrol, which included the Long Tan rubber plantation to the base of the large hill named Nui Dat 2, which was just to the northwest of where an enemy regiment arrived on 14 August and was waiting to attack the Nui Dat Australian Task Force base. Then, barely back at base, without warning in the very early hours of the steamy morning of 17 August came the blast of enemy 82-mm mortar bombs, 75-mm recoilless rifle ‘rockets’ and 70-mm artillery shells, fired into the base for more than 22 minutes. Silence fell as suddenly as it had been broken. Weary, the men stood to, on lookout until dawn for an expected ground attack which never came. They had been rostered on picket duties that same night.


But now they had to move swiftly.


That morning the big brass sitting somewhat safely at Nui Dat Task Force HQ had ordered Delta Company to relieve Bravo Company’s men who had been sent out at dawn on the 17th to look for the enemy who had fired the mortars, not anticipating contact, the enemy thought long gone, and having ordered a late breakfast. There Bravo had uncovered vacated enemy mortar positions and were ordered to continue searching; to be relieved the next day. Bravo’s 80-odd soldiers had spent the day and night unmolested at the edge of the Long Tan rubber plantation, east-southeast of Nui Dat HQ and just east of the Suoi Da Bang River.


Not an enemy soldier had lingered to be fingered. Already at dawn 48 soldiers had returned to the base for local leave; no danger perceived by the company commander, the battalion commanding officer or the task force commander.


After relieving Bravo the 108 were to track down the enemy who had shelled the base – probably 30 to 40 Viet Cong, maybe ‘a weapons platoon and protection’ that had ‘shooted and scooted’ and were now long gone, slipping into their familiar jungle bases.


That was the most the Delta lads had been told anyway.


This was Operation Vendetta – so named by their nuggety carrot-top company commander Major Harry Smith, as revenge for the mortaring of Nui Dat; a mission that would be short, swift and nothing more, lads. No big deal.


The soldiers had kitted up for an operation of five days, these finely honed and tuned super-fit young men; 68 Aussie Nashos and near 40 tough Regular Army, and with them three well-practised New Zealand Artillery Battery Forward Observer party who had served with the 1st Battalion Group at Bien Hoa.


On this stifling morning the men carried 40 kg on their dripping backs and around their belts, including 110 rounds and water bottles. Some also lugged 200-round belts for the M60 machine guns, along with heavy PRC 25 VHF radios and spare batteries.


Through the undergrowth and over two creek crossings of the Suoi Da Bang, their Armalites, SLRs, M60s and Owen guns held high and dry, the 35-degree sun and clammy stickiness polished the sheen of their youth.


As infantry you are primed for death that arrives without warning or conscience. Hopefully the other guy’s, after you send the first bullet. But it is enduring and infinite in your psyche that you could be next. You live from day to day. That is your training.


Yet on this monsoon morning of 18 August 1966 as Major Harry Smith, your nuggety Green Beret commander urges you on through the unrelenting terrain, could you ever foresee the epic David and Goliath battle waiting for you, just a few hours east of the Nui Dat base in the Long Tan rubber plantation?


No fucking way, mate.


Shit, a Yankee Budweiser would go down well right now. Plenty of them back at base. The Delta boys regularly traded their distinctive slouch hats for Buds and Schlitz.


Stay focused, son. This is your life lurking here in the long grass.


Meanwhile this afternoon’s treat of the eagerly awaited base concert with Aussie rocker Col Joye and his Joy Boys and that nicely rounded Little Pattie was now dead meat. ‘Can Do’ Delta Company had been called to duty to perhaps make holes in a few D445 Gooks in black/ khaki pyjamas, although the Cong were surely gone by now.


Bugger about missing the concert as they marched to the beat of the different drum, the pulsating thump thump of Col Joye’s decibels of bass resonating behind them.


But you focus, son.


‘Here’s the blood.’


It’s 1 pm and just inside the Long Tan rubber plantation. Delta Company has reached its destination. Bravo Company’s boss, Major Noel Ford, briefs Delta Company’s Major Harry Smith near the enemy firing positions. Funny meeting up again like this; they’d been roommates at Officer Cadet School, Portsea, in 1952.


Noel, Harry and a security group of men look around at the evidence of discarded empty mortar and rocket ammunition boxes, pieces of bloodstained clothing and Ho Chi Minh sandals.


‘And more here; a trail, see. They had bullock carts and took their wounded – or dead, hopefully. Our artillery counter bombardment must have got some of ‘em,’ announces Noel.


The men brew up and share Delta’s hard rations. Bravo had been sent out without calculating they might need to stay overnight and although they’d been resupplied with some rations by a platoon of Charlie Company yesterday afternoon, their provisions were thin. Charlie’s platoon had searched the rubber south of Bravo Company and, finding nothing, returned to Nui Dat.


‘Harry the Ratcatcher’ – which they’d secretly called him since he’d busted a clandestine card game in his time serving in Malaya in ’55–’57 and triumphantly announced, ‘Gotcha, you rats’ – looked at the trails leading north, south and east; the slow trail of the wounded. To the north the surviving enemy soldiers’ foot trail was already 36 hours old and would, he knew, be heading to where Alpha Company was already patrolling.


Radioing to his battalion CO, Lieutenant Colonel Colin ‘Mousey’ Townsend, Harry suggested that despite tracks to the north, east, and south, his gut feeling was to patrol east through the rubber to a secure jungle base for that night and on to the artillery gun range limit – another 3 km – tomorrow. And as he had learned in Malaya, jungle is more secure and has far fewer mosquitoes than rubber plantations.


The Ratcatcher’s gut feelings had served him well in his 33 years. Twenty-five of those with guns in his hand. He was not an indecisive man. Some even called him ruthless when he took on a particular military mindset.


‘On the toss of a coin, go east, young man!’ the young career major quipped into the radio frequency.


But at that fateful moment Harry Smith did not know the unpromising truth. In fact no-one from Nui Dat base knew the truth other than the task force commander, Brigadier Oliver David ‘OD’ Jackson, and just three of his officers. Jackson was London-born, a graduate of the Royal Military College, Duntroon, had done World War II service and now ’Nam.


Incredibly Jackson had already been given crucial information by the top-secret 547 Signals Intelligence Unit at Nui Dat and the Australian Army Training Team Liaison Officer, Commando Captain Mike Wells, based at 10 ARVN Division Sector HQ, Ba Ria.


It was, Jackson was told from Morse code radio intercept, more than likely the 5th Division’s 275 Regiment and support units were resting in jungle just east of the Long Tan rubber plantation, with another major force, Regiment 274, somewhere to the north.


And more … that D445 battalion was probably near Xa Long Tan to the southeast of the rubber plantation.


Local D445 were the very adept band of local soldiers who regularly recruited villagers at the point of a rifle.


They were likely the meeters, greeters, guides and feeders for 275 Regiment when it arrived from the far northeast on 14 August – and all this was reported promptly to OD Jackson sitting pretty at Nui Dat.


But what did the brigadier respond with? ‘Oh, the radio is probably just a 275 Regiment HQ doing a reconnaissance.’ Reconnaissance for what Brigadier?


So Jackson ignored the critical information available. After being handed this vital classified evidence by Captain Trevor Richards, OC 547 Signal Troop at Nui Dat, OD chose to tell only three fellow officers.


Thus in a heartbeat, in dispatching Harry and his 108 men of Delta Coy and NZ Artillery to Long Tan that risky day of Operation ‘Vendetta’, the brigadier had unintentionally fitted them up for a possible death sentence.


But what the enemy was to discover was that the indomitable Harry Smith and his courageous soldiers were unerringly programmed to win.


The determined Tasmanian was a driven perfectionist and commanding this titanic unforeseen battle, the thought of losing didn’t even waft onto the rim of his radar.


The Ratcatcher may have been feisty, demanding and at times rebellious but he was also ex-Commando and a trainer of Commandos and in the frightful monsoonal battle that was soon to engulf the men of Delta, not even a colossal 2000 enemy VC and North Vietnamese Army were going to stop Harry’s men from securing perhaps one of the most impossible of our ANZAC victories.






ONE:


BEGINNINGS IN TASMANIA


Harry Arthur Smith my parents christened me, their only son, after I was born on 25 July 1933 in Hobart, the historic waterfront Tasmanian town. I may not have shown the early physique of a future war commander but as a kid I sure as hell could handle a riffle.


Although my parents were not at all religious, I was named after a World War II family friend, Padre Harry Thorpe, and my second name is from my grandfather Arthur Ronald Smith.


My father, Ronald Arthur, born in Hobart in 1909, an only child, was a disciplinarian. He’d served in the part-time Citizens Military Force (CMF) 40th Battalion from 1927 to 1930, was promoted to corporal and awarded a marksman’s crossed rifles badge. He worked at Cadbury’s as an office boy from age 14, rising to production manager, until World War II when in 1942 he joined the Australian Imperial Force (AIF). He moved into the cumbersome General Grant American M3 tanks as a sergeant in the 2/9th Armoured Division on the Atherton Tablelands and the Brisbane Line in Queensland.


My mother Annie Isabel also born in Hobart, in 1910, raised me alone from 1942 to 1944. Dad came home on leave once or twice in his khaki uniform and beret. By then I was running around the yard with a pick handle over my shoulder because it looked and felt like a gun, which I loved. I also played soldiers in an air raid shelter which Dad had built in the backyard after he joined the AIF. He returned to work at Cadbury’s just before the war finished because of a government policy that made his job at Cadbury’s a ‘reserved occupation’ in an industry which had to support the armed forces. So he never went to Borneo with his squadron, which landed there in smaller Matilda tanks near the end of the war. I suspect he regretted being left behind.


[image: ]


My Dad Ronald.


Dad had a German 9-mm Luger pistol, which he carried instead of his issue .38 revolver, and while I got to fire it now and then in the bush it was stored, unknown to Mum at the time, on top of my high built-in bedroom wardrobe. I had visions of it passing on to me when I was older but Dad was forced by Mum to get it out of the house when she discovered it, so he passed it on to a mate. A similar situation with Mum arose a few years later. I had brought home as souvenirs of the Vietnam War a Chinese 7.62-mm Tokarev pistol I’d taken off a dead North Vietnamese Army officer, along with three other weapons; an almost mint AK47 Kalashnikov assault rifle; a US Army Garand rifle; and a US Army M1 carbine, which we landed in Brisbane in our ‘Delta Company stores’, exempt customs inspection. I donated the Garand and M1 carbine to a private military museum in Sydney but kept the other two weapons. I’d been involved with that museum in the early 1960s when I was stationed at Ingleburn, helping the Infantry Centre museum curator at night to set up what became the largest collection of military weapons in the southern hemisphere.


When I left Commandos in December 1969 to go to Staff College in Victoria there was no armoury so I took the Tokarev and AK47 home to Coffs Harbour to my parents’ house. Dad put the guns up in the roof with the idea that they’d be safe and they stayed there until I joined the Parachute School in 1973. Then Dad rang me to come up and take the guns away because Mum had found out they were hidden in the roof and didn’t want them in the house.


Although I had originally indicated I would give the AK47 to my 12 Platoon commander Second Lieutenant Dave Sabben, new gun rules prevented that and I found a home for it with one of my warrant officer parachute jump instructors who was a licensed private collector. Although I had a licence via a pistol club, in 1999 I gave the Tokarev to the War Memorial in Canberra where it was reconditioned and displayed on the wall in the Post-WWII Conflicts area Long Tan Display.


My mother was the daughter of a Hobart family involved with the racing of trotting horses but she was mostly ostracised by her family because of her marriage to a Cadbury’s executive and I had nothing to do with her family except for Aunty Ethel, who lived at Old Beach over the river. But Mum did a lot of good work in the community with Red Cross and garden clubs and was eventually very highly regarded by her siblings.


I can’t say I had a loving relationship with Mum. Mum was Mum; she cooked our meals and did our housework. Growing up, we didn’t spend a lot of time together. Frankly, I was away from home at every opportunity.


In my earliest years we lived at Glenorchy, 10 km north of Hobart, in a very modest cottage on the corner opposite the Club Hotel. My grandparents on Dad’s side resided just two houses along the street in a house that adjoined their old general store and I used to enjoy investigating the corridors and empty shelves. Grandmother used to make lovely fruit mince pies and other delicacies in her wood oven and when I had asthma attacks she would nurse me in front of a hot fire so I could breathe more easily. Grandad, who wasn’t particularly warm towards children, was a good carpenter and had a wonderful range of hand tools, all kept immaculate, as was his treasured 1928 De Soto sedan, never taken out in the rain. I guess some of his woodworking skills passed on to my father and then on to me. I also recall the weekly night cart arriving with its ‘forty pisstins and flies’, as was sometimes remarked.


Dad worked in Cadbury-Fry-Pascall chocolate factory at Claremont where he became the production manager. It was pretty impressive as careers go in those years. He worked for Cadbury’s for 48 years, beginning as a 14-year-old office boy in the 1920s and progressing to become the production director for Hobart and then Melbourne when Cadbury’s bought out MacRobertson’s Freddo Frogs factory at Ringwood, just east of the city.


One of my memories of his work at Cadbury’s is of him bringing home from work a briefcase full of chocolates and putting them on his desk. He would meticulously taste each one of them and write a report. We were never short of chocolates at home. I still like chocolates.


He received an Order of the British Empire (OBE) for services to the community in June 1966, the same year I was awarded the Military Cross (MC) in Vietnam after Long Tan. Although we’d hoped we might receive our medals together, he received his in Hobart in September 1966 and although I received the ribbon at Nui Dat in January 1967, my MC medal was presented in Saigon by our Ambassador in May 1967.


Dad, like his father, used to go to regular Masonic Lodge meetings. He said nothing about them, but would leave the house with a briefcase and purple scarf. All very secretive.
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Dad and Mum.


Sadly, other than for infrequent fishing and shooting trips, he and I had very little rapport at home because he was so busy at work. On rare occasions he displayed a sense of humour and I recall him laughing when sister Joan spilt her green peas all over the table, saying ‘Joan you have pee’d on the table’. By the time I needed a father he had already risen to that all-consuming management role. He did however push me to be independent, and he gave me a copy of the 1899 A Message to Garcia essay that spoke of using one’s initiative – of living the dream. The final paragraph sums it up:


My heart goes out to the man who does his work when the ‘boss’ is away, as well as when he is at home. And the man who, when given a letter for Garcia, quietly take the missive, without asking any idiotic questions, and with no lurking intention of chucking it into the nearest sewer, or of doing aught else but deliver it.


I recall Dad telling me that, like Garcia, when given a job to do, I shouldn’t ask the boss how to do it, but should seek out what was required and do it.


Dad’s encouragement to use my own nous led to me becoming fairly good at military appreciations in the Army – being able to assess the aim, facts and options, and quickly come up with the best plan. It also contributed to me being a loner. Dad always believed in fair play, even to writing to manufacturers about faulty goods, usually obtaining apologies and replacements. I recall he once wrote about a packet of broken biscuits and received a whole carton in reply. His perseverance inspired me to seek justice for my men after Long Tan, a battle for recognition that began in 1996 after the official 30-year secrecy period imposed on 1966 records, and which, after pushing the envelope for twenty years, was successful in 2016.


In their own way my parents set out to make a good life for my two younger sisters, Joan and Beverly, and me. On their limited income they provided us with a good upbringing in the best way they could. Dad helped me with buying parts for radio sets I used to build as a hobby. He had a mate at Cadbury’s who was an amateur radio operator and he got me interested in making my first crystal set and then small valve radio sets. Dad instilled in me a number of rules for life, most of which I’ve followed, such as making sure everything is done properly. He also had a major thing about waste not, want not. He taught me to turn the lights off if I wasn’t using them – and I still do that to this day.


By 1942, we were living in Rosetta on the western shore of the Derwent River about a 15-minute drive north of Hobart’s CBD. My parents had built a nice brick home on the main road with views of the river. It had a steep driveway that had a long wire alongside it on which our much loved British bulldog Tiny used to travel up and down. When I was young sometimes I used to sit on his back. He was sadly missed when some low-life dropped a bait onto the drive and poisoned him. After he died, one of my sisters brought home an unwelcome cat. Dad put it in the car and dumped it 80 km away – only to see it return a week later.


Another tale of the steep driveway was later told to me by Joan, about an event after Beverly and I had moved out of home, Bev to nursing and me into the Army. Once Dad had become production manager both he and Mum drove Holden company cars. One day Mum drove up that driveway and parked her car in the garage while she removed her shopping, forgetting to apply the handbrake, to then see it run backwards down the drive, over the main road, down an embankment, and onto the grass verge of the railway line, not hitting anything on the way but upsetting the suspension by hitting the rail lines. By the time Dad arrived home at 6 pm, the car had been towed away and an identical one was in the garage. ‘Mum’ was the word, and Joan was sworn to secrecy until Mum passed away.


Looking back on my childhood there is no doubt that my grandfather, father and mother were total disciplinarians, and when I left home, I guess I rebelled against that. As a child, I wagged Sunday school from St Paul’s Church in Montrose – which we attended even though Dad happened to be a self-confessed atheist – to go fishing for small trout in a creek near home and, later, I wagged night school classes to go ice skating.


I remember Mum finding empty tins of condensed milk and tinned fruit under my bed, tins that I had nicked from a stock in her kitchen larder, and there was the memorable time she accidentally trod on my big toes. Trouble was I hadn’t told anyone about my two ingrown toenails. After two unsuccessful ‘V’ cuts into the nails, I ended up having the nail beds removed in hospital, with the flesh turned over and sewn up – no big nails to cut or in-grow ever again.


My most vivid childhood memories are the wonderful school holidays with my grandparents who had a galvanised iron shack, aptly named ‘The Patches’ at Bicheno on the Tasmanian east coast north of Swansea. In those days this was a quiet coastal holiday town sought out by campers who liked throwing in a line. Many residents were fisher folk who had their boats moored in a channel known as the Gulch, from where they indulged in excellent fishing for crayfish and barracuda. I went out with the fishermen and I often caught cod and mullet by myself in the Gulch. I recall breaking Grandad’s prized cane fishing rod hauling in a big fish, which did not please him. In the trumpeter season I used to row a heavy timber boat for one fisherman, Neil Potter, often all night, while he netted trumpeter fish in the Gulch, and my reward was a whole sixpenny piece. That was a lot of pocket money in the early forties.
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Me in Bichenno.


At the rare times when my parents were there, Dad used to take me into the bush shooting rabbits, which we skinned and used for crayfish bait, tied by a cord to a long pole and dangled in the kelp off the rocks. We’d then take the crays back to the shack to be cooked in old square kerosene tins on a wooden fire. We had plenty of tins as we used bulk kero for the fridge and lighting. Local fishermen were very friendly and they would often give us one of the huge ocean sea crabs that had got caught by a leg in their cray pots, thought a nuisance then, but now marketed commercially.


Two of my holiday girlfriends were Neil Potter’s daughters, Una and Ina. By then I was 12 and starting to realise that boys and girls were different. We used to go down onto the beach in summer time and swim but it was mostly cold so we played games, running round the sand hills – and engaging in other harmless activities – to keep warm. I also fell in love with an older girl with whom I played tennis but the friendship remained platonic. I didn’t lose my innocence until I was 20 – and that was with Kathleen, my future wife.


I was not a really good swimmer in spite of spending a lot of time on the ocean beaches, and getting sunburnt, with no ‘slip, slop, slap’ or hats in those days. I very nearly drowned one year in the Derwent River near Risdon when I almost capsized my 12-ft Rainbow dinghy in a big wind gust. I’d built it with my father’s help in our backyard at Rosetta. That day on the Derwent I stupidly jumped overboard to swim after my good rain jacket when it blew overboard. The fast current was running the other way and a fisherman came out from shore to rescue me. All I can remember is trying to save this damn jacket, getting exhausted and being very frightened and wondering what was going to happen. It took a long time before I jumped off a boat again into a fast current and that was when anchored at Palm Island north of Townsville in 2001, to retrieve a remarkable empty Nautilus shell floating by, home to one of the planet’s most amazing creatures. I again had some trouble against the current with one hand occupied holding the shell but I eventually got back to our moored yacht, with wife Felicia about to up-anchor our yacht and chase me. Although I was not a good surface swimmer I could stay under the water all day with diving gear and enjoy it.


The dry hot Tasmanian summer sun took a toll on my fair skin – I was then a freckled red-head – and one year I recall going to school with large blisters, no doubt the start of my problems with skin cancer in later years. A large blister on my back broke in school and the water ran down my back. The class laughed out loud when I put my hand up and asked to go home to change my pants. I had to change my pants another day after I had eaten too many green tomatoes from the Rodman farm near our house in Glenorchy. ‘Rodman’s Reddies’ were the very best tomatoes grown in Tasmania. My sister Bev later married a Rodman, Lynley. Bev was just 20. The marriage broke up 15 years after daughter Trudi was born in 1960; Bev never wed again and now lives at lovely St Helens on the Tasmanian northeast coast. After two marriages Trudi lives in Melbourne and is an executive in a firm that supplies movies and associated equipment to hotels.


The childhood sun damage was aggravated by many years in the sun while in the Army where in such places as Malaya and Vietnam the dress on base was shorts and no shirt, and of course I can add 35 years of too much sun while sailing up and down the Queensland coast.
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Catch of the day.


Ironically, in 2010, Defence issued a policy that soldiers were no longer to wear berets to avoid facial skin cancer problems, but it was too late for me, having worn Green and Red Berets in Commando and Airborne for some 10 years before leaving the Army in 1976. To date, I have had over 20 excisions for basal and squamous cell carcinomas, plus one small melanoma, and I underwent surgery on an ear canal skin cancer by a plastic surgeon in Townsville in 2011. It just goes on and on as they cut bits of me away.


Nevertheless, I have enjoyed an outdoor and very adventurous life under the sun. My dermatologist tells me, yes, it all started in childhood and will continue even if I stay out of the sun, but that if I can put up with the nitrogen freezing and excisions then I can go ahead and enjoy life on the water, which I am still doing. Sailing and messing around in boats remains my ongoing passion.


The sailing passion began when I was very young. While on school holidays at Bicheno one year at age eight or nine my father took me to a friend’s home near a lake – just before he enlisted in the Army – and introduced me to sailing in a very basic dinghy with a single mainsail. While my parents and sisters were not interested in boats, I took to sailing like a fish to water. In Hobart my father placed me on a friend’s large A-class yacht as cabin boy, and later I was able to race each weekend as crew, the mainsheet hand and bailer boy, in the traditional Cadet Dinghies off Battery Point. Our PT teacher Billy Lawrence had a Derwent-class yacht and took us out often, and sometimes on a heavy-weight Sharpie. I became obsessed with sailing, moving on to crew on a Sandridge Sharpie dinghy owned by Brian Stevens, then onto Neil Tate’s Rainbow-class dinghy. When I was 15 Dad funded and helped me build a new Rainbow. He got bits of cut dressed timber from Cadbury’s workshops and I made the hull frames. He built a stand and I did most of the work under his guidance. That boat cost us just £22, including the mast and sails. These fast 12-ft flat-bottomed square-nosed racers were based at the Sandy Bay Dinghy Club.


In the gusty winds off the hills on the Derwent River I developed an instinctive ability to get the best out of a yacht upwind and the next year my Samba won the Tasmanian Rainbow Championship and in the National series came second to a lightweight West Australian yacht Epic, an upmarket boat with a light alloy mast and centreboard, rather than a heavy timber mast. I always seemed to achieve good results in racing right up to 2009 when I sold our Cavalier 395, and bought a traditional Fleming 39-ft timber cruiser, Melaleuca, which I finally sold in late 2012 in favour of, again, a racing yacht, Sydney 36 Mayhem, my latest toy. Even when in the Army I managed to spend time sailing. In Melbourne in 1964–65 I sailed a Surf Whaler with a Commando crew. In Sydney in 1968–69 I sailed with the RAN in Bosun dinghies.


In West Australia in 1971–72 I sailed 5-m Corsairs, taking out the State title, then skippered the 15-m Rolly Tasker Siska 1. In the United Kingdom in 1973, I was able to sail on a Nicholson 43 at Beaullie. Since then I have always had a yacht or boat of some kind. And, except for the timber cruiser where I lost money, I have always been able to buy quality boats, albeit often rundown, restore them with my own labour, and sell them on for a profit to buy another, and upgrade. I could write a book about my sailing exploits alone – my 12 different boats have provided me with many good stories.


[image: ]


Sailing a Corsair, Perth 1971.


One such story was from 2004 when we were in Gladstone Marina en route south and moored near friends Rob and Gay on their yacht Dancing Dolphin with two Tonkinese cats. We enjoyed a barbecue with them and other yachties and next morning Rob helped us cast off when we left to sail 50 km down the shipping channel then east to Pancake Creek. Felicia, my wife, noticed cat paw prints in the ‘Gladstone snow’ coal dust on our deck which indicated a cat had been on deck. Around noon we received a radio call asking if we had a cat on board. No sign of a cat that day or night but next morning when Felicia was sitting up in the front berth sipping her coffee she exclaimed, ‘We have a cat down the back quarter berth cabin – I can see a tail waving.’ I coaxed the cat out of the stored sails. Luckily it had not made a mess. Then, after relieving its bladder on paper in a large plastic tray, it took over, investigating all our cupboards and growling at any other passing boats. I radioed the marina office and asked them to tell the owners we had their missing cat but they would have to sail to Pancake to get it. The manager said something like, ‘You are lucky it wasn’t a big dog, Harry.’


I retorted, ‘Oh there’s nothing like a bit of pussy’, which I am often reminded went out over the VHF radio repeater on Mt Larcom to hundreds of boats along the Capricorn coast.


Later that day Rob and Gay arrived in their yacht and recovered their cat which would have been quite happy to stay with us, but animals and boats don’t mix, especially with all the new marine park rules which prevent animals being taken ashore on beaches attached to national parks. Some yachties, who had more regard for their pets than their fellow human beings and the native wildlife, flouted the normal convention of not leaving poo where others swam. So then everyone was penalised – the usual bureaucratic system.


Another sailing tale comes from Cid Harbour in the Whitsundays in 2009. Felicia asked me to take a letter in our inflatable dinghy to another yacht, former RAAF fighter pilot Ken Johnson’s Swanson 36 which was going back to Airlie Beach. The water was mirror-calm so I stood up and steered the dinghy with a new extension handle on the 8-hp outboard, not taking hold of the painter rope. As I neared the other yacht at a very slow pace I thought I was turning the revs down but inadvertently turned the new extension handle the wrong way and all 8 hp went into play. Up went the nose of the dinghy and over the back and down under went me. On surfacing, still with cap and sunglasses, I saw the dinghy going around in circles at 15-knot full speed and I swam to Ken’s yacht to get out of its way lest the prop cut off an arm or leg. Eventually, amid the laughter of crews on some 30 other yachts moored nearby, it ran softly into another yacht, Judet. Its owners, Paul and Valerie, caught the dinghy and killed the engine. No damage done but a wet me made sure that in future I had the motor cut-off key attached to my wrist and that I held on to the painter rope and sat down. Several years later old friends still talk about these events and recall others who have been severely injured by similar outboard motor accidents.


But back to Tasmania. I was fully committed to School Cadets and sailing, and romance was not on my agenda when I was at school. My two sisters and I were closely watched by our parents, and forced to lead very protected lifestyles. I am sure we were supposed to marry into money but, alas, we disappointed by marrying partners without social status in our parents’ eyes. My parents objected to me marrying my first wife Kathleen. Had I listened to their warnings about getting married so quickly and so young, it may have spared Kathleen and me some unhappy times. The bonus was our three beautiful children. The downside was that we quickly fell out of love.


Of we three kids it is only Joan, who won a Rotary Scholarship to the United States when she was a teenager, who has remained with her husband Ian throughout. He became an expert in oil refinery pipelines and fittings and even after retirement is still sought after as a consultant. Ian and I get on well as he is also a yachtsman and a car buff with a collectable Porsche and MG in his garage.


Mum was left at home when Dad travelled to England in Sunderland Flying Boats and then Constellations in the course of his business. But in later years they both often went to Japan for Cadbury’s and Mum learned how to grow bonsai trees, eventually teaching the specialist gardening art around Hobart.
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Me with my sisters Joan and Bev.


When I turned 16 Mum and Dad let me go to dances in Hobart once a week, where I developed an eye for one special girl, but I was required to be home on the last train by 11 pm. One night I went to sleep on the train, and found myself at New Norfolk, 30 km up the line, getting back to Rosetta well after midnight. That story was not believed and I was banned from further dances. Compared to the stories of romance my older schoolmates boasted of, I was a novice and I still had not had a relationship when I left school at the end of 1950. Happy with sailing my Rainbow and riding my bike home on hilly roads some 12 km after racing, I was always too tired or had homework to do. And unlike in later years, beer and cigarettes were absolutely not on the menu.


As a teenager I was conned into going to Mrs Donnelly’s Dance School at night, learning waltzes and the like and I didn’t particularly take to it. Mum said it was the done thing for children to go to dancing school. I never learned to master rock and roll very well either but I do admire people who can dance. I also avoided piano lessons although my sisters both played well.


After we moved to Rosetta I enrolled at Claremont State School. But I couldn’t wait for the weekend when I’d ride down to Sandy Bay to go sailing. It kept me busy in between high school homework after my parents sent me to Hobart High at age 11. I had begun primary school at age five and qualified for entrance to high school in grade six so was one of the youngest. Hobart High was actor Errol Flynn’s old school. We remembered the swashbuckling Hollywood screen legend for many interesting things but the one that tickled us most was the tale of his shoving a potato up the headmaster’s exhaust which prevented the car from starting. Errol was definitely our hero and after he beat several rape charges we kids also learned the fashionable phrase ‘In like Flynn’. One victim claimed she was raped on his yacht ‘Sirocco’ and could see the full moon shining through the cabin hatch. Errol produced evidence the full moon was two weeks later. The case was dismissed.


By the time I reached 15 I had matriculated but wasn’t allowed to leave school to go to university so I stayed on for another 12 months until I reached the legal leaving age of 16. I didn’t mind that much because I was still involved in Cadets and sailing. I took on new subjects like French and maths, which I detested.


I played cricket but wasn’t particularly good at it. My father said to me, ‘It doesn’t matter how good you play son, just wear white trousers and pullover and you’ll look the part.’ I also played Australian Rules – with mediocrity – but I wasn’t too bad as a rover and at basketball in the school gym. One time I recall an older and much bigger player saying to me, ‘You’ve never had a screw, Harry. You wouldn’t know what it was like to have butterflies coming out of your arse.’ I never forgot that and, a few years later, quite a few, I discovered what he meant.


It was at Hobart High, a co-ed school, that my life changed dramatically. I signed up for School Cadets and fell in love – with guns and the military life. I stayed with the Cadets for five years. Within months I became an ace marksman and even though still a teenager I handled an issue BSA .310 rifle and then a .303 with confidence. Guns and I were destined to bond.


I rose to be a cadet officer: first corporal, then sergeant and finally cadet lieutenant. I loved the Cadets without reservation, even having to take orders.


But along came a pretty serious glitch. I was around 14 when I was discharged for pinching about 20 .303 rounds after a Vickers Machine Gun range practice to go and shoot rabbits in the perimeter paddocks of Brighton Camp, 27 km north of Hobart. The temptation was too much for me. Next door was that great big paddock alive with fleet-footed furry creatures and before breakfast I’d take out my .303 rifle, which in those days we kept in our barracks during camps. Range practices weren’t allowed out of official training time but I often put a few rounds in my pouch and went for the bunnies.


My father got stuck into me very verbally and told me I’d heaped disgrace on the family’s good name. Mum was horrified too. Six months later, after I had spent all this sudden free time doing even more sailing, the Cadets took me back – and promoted me. At age 15 I became cadet officer and started to enjoy giving orders instead of taking them.


My knack of being able to work with other soldiers began in Cadets. They seemed to respect my ability to do things well such as shooting, map reading and marching. I wouldn’t say though that I was a born leader. I just refused to fail. I’d die rather than fail. It’s been the same for me winning yacht races. You get nothing for nothing. I didn’t understand that when I was a child. I just did the best because I wanted to win.


My father was a very good marksman in his day and now his Army Marksman’s Badge resides in the Maryborough Military and Colonial Museum on Queensland’s Fraser Coast. I think I inherited the skill from him. I was a very good shot. It was a matter of being able to hold the rifle properly and steady and line up the sights, then carefully squeeze the trigger without disturbing the aim. It was a very competitive system shooting on that Brighton range to see who could get the best score and I certainly felt good when I hit the bullseye, often at ranges up to 500 m.
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My School Cadet days. Me leading the Royal Hobart Show Guard 1951.


I’d enjoyed shooting using Grandad’s .410 shotgun to shoot rabbits when I was eight. But the high note was with the Vickers machine gun. It was wonderful to sit behind one and fire belt after belt. Our Cadet unit had six of them, supplied by the Army. Noel Mulcahey was our Regular Army captain. I used to admire the way he took the time to educate us in military matters and at the same time keep his cool. The bonus was you went to school in your khaki uniform and beret. Cadet days were once a week and they were more important to me than any other activity at school except sailing on sports days.


Even though I rose in the ranks I still did not have my sights on a full-time career in the military. And my parents had other ideas for their single-minded young son – even though it is doubtful they ever fully understood me.


When I matriculated for the second time in December 1950, Dad wanted me to go to university but another four years of academic study did not appeal to me. I said a firm no. Dad then chose a job for me as a laboratory assistant and apprentice trainee with Austral Bronze, manufacturers of copper, brass and bronze sheeting, pending a night school diploma in metallurgy, a seven-year course. I always liked geology, but seven years? My work involved three eight-hour shifts seven days or nights each week, in which I had to take samples from rolled metals and test them for hardness and chemical composition at various stages along the production line. I found time to learn ice skating at the Derwent Park rink, graduating from basic figure skating to racing in long speed skates called flats and I did quite well at team racing. We dyed our long johns and singlets to make ourselves a distinctive uniform. It was an exciting sport and I revelled in it.


There was a lovely girl at the rink and I used to take her home after skating and even occasionally visit her home when her parents were at night movies. The relationship was serious but never developed into anything more than a kiss and cuddle, and so when I was called into Army National Service in January 1952 I was still innocent at age 18. Not only had I been warned by my parents about the pitfalls associated with girls, but sailing left me little time for romance. Later at Brighton doing National Service I confess I had motives of seducing this girl and bought a packet of condoms just in case but I had no car to get to Hobart when I had time off, which was not very often. Mum found them in my greatcoat one day when I stayed at home, and there was hell to pay. I told Dad that we had to take them from the Regimental Aid Post when we went on leave and asked him to tell Mum to note the packet was still unopened!


Australia had been fighting in the Korean War since September 1950 and that had inspired the introduction of National Service under Prime Minister Robert Menzies. All Australian men aged 18 were made to register. Army was 176 days’ training – 98 days of that full-time and the rest as two years’ part-time weekends and nights in camp as part of the Citizen Military Forces (CMF) system. Those in the Royal Australian Navy and Royal Australian Air Force served their 176 days in one hit.


Five years in Cadets laid the groundwork for National Service training so when I was called up in the second intake in January 1952, I was promoted to temporary lance corporal, then to corporal by the end of the 90-day intake. National service was an extension of what we’d done in cadet camp. We were in the same buildings that we’d occupied in Cadets. Only the corporal instructor who lived in a room at one end had any privacy. It was go go go, being taught all aspects of Army work from 6 am to lights out at 10 pm. We marched regularly the 8 km from Brighton Camp to the rifle range at Pontville although there was often so much fog you couldn’t see to shoot – we would have needed horizontal post-hole borers to see to fire at the targets. So we would hang around until the fog lifted and work on weapon training lessons.


Apart from the cold and fog everything about the Army National Service was good, including the odd weekend leave breaks to keep up sailing with mates, although Dad had sold my championship Rainbow for me for £45, a 100 percent profit on the cost of parts not including our labour.


Fate played its hand. When I went to return to my laboratory work after the 90 days, my job had gone, despite government policy that required employers to hold the positions for those called into National Service. I was not that unhappy and told my father I wanted to join the Regular Army, which did not please him but I won out, enlisting on 24 April 1952 at the recruiting office at Anglesea Barracks, Hobart. And back I went to Brighton Camp as a Regular Army private soldier.






TWO:


CANNON FODDER TO GO


Now in the Regular Army, I was placed on a non-commissioned officer (NCO) course and after qualifying was then promoted to temporary corporal as a National Service Section instructor responsible for the basic weapons and drill training of 10 or so men for the three-month intakes. There were three such sections in each of nine platoons at Brighton Camp’s 18 National Service Training Battalion, each platoon having an officer and sergeant in its headquarters to instruct on broader subjects, do the administrative tasks and supervise live firing practices.


It became a wake-up call – literally. During each three-month intake we were required to be in the lines at reveille at dawn to get the soldiers out of bed. The usual call was ‘Hands off cocks, hands on socks!’ or sometimes ‘Wakey, wakey, hands off snakey’. We were also required to front up for lights out at 10 pm after working all day. So we were caught up in long days and long weeks with little time for any social life. All this discipline in icy winter weather very quickly sorted out the men from the boys. And in the Regular Army NCOs’ canteen I was to start smoking and drinking for the first time, socially required across the ranks and definitely the accepted behaviour.


In May 1952, Dad and Mum were concerned at my future social status as an NCO and suggested that if I was to stay in the Army I should go to the new Officer Cadet School (OCS) at Portsea, Victoria, and obtain a commission – to be an ‘Officer and Gentleman, if only by Act of Parliament’, so Dad said. I agreed to apply for the second six-month course starting in July. I was accepted after the fairly probing interview by a panel in Hobart, and departed for Portsea, Victoria, in late June via train to Devonport and then ship to Melbourne.


OCS Portsea was the newly created officer promotion academy to provide officers for cannon fodder for Korea. Duntroon graduation would have taken four years. So Portsea was definitely that fodder route – just six months. But a few months after I graduated as second lieutenant in December that year, Korea finished. Who knows, maybe I got lucky. Maybe I needed to learn more before I faced war.


For once taking Dad’s advice and getting myself a commission at the newly raised Officer Cadet School at Portsea, I discovered that six months at OCS was a bit like being in prison. Discipline was very strict and if you were awarded extra drill and physical training punishment for small things like a dusty light shade (checked by Regular Army instructors wearing white gloves) or clothes not folded in regulation sizes and shapes, it was difficult not to incur further punishment. There was never the time available to do the extra drills and get things right before these meticulous morning room inspections.


My roommate was Noel Ford, who was later to be a fellow company commander in Vietnam in 1966–67. He commanded Bravo Company 6RAR but went back to Australia in December 1966 to go to Staff College. Noel bizarrely disappeared (some say he did a Harold Holt) at Bondi Beach in December 1967 en route from Queenscliff Army Staff College to 6RAR Townsville, posted as the second-in-command. I gather he was near the top of the course and, just recently, in 2014, his son Duncan got in touch with me and sent a photo of Noel holding him as a baby. I sent photos from OCS back to him. Noel’s car and clothes were found at Bondi Beach. No body was ever recovered. Rumours suggest he has since been seen in New Zealand, but I am happy to believe he drowned. Noel was an academic and, while I excelled in field and weapons work and was promoted to cadet corporal, he took the big prizes for essays and the like.


On graduation in December 1952, Noel won the Staff Prize while I was awarded the Field Prize and second place in the Staff Prize; both of us winning medallions for best results over the course. Overall I came seventh out of 70. For our graduation night ball, I invited my parents and my skating girlfriend over from Hobart, although I then moved on to the School of Infantry at Seymour, Victoria, for three months Infantry Corps Training and when I later went back to Tassie she had another boyfriend and I never saw her again.
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Graduation parade December 1952. Officer Cadet School at Portsea. Corporal Smith centre, Noel Ford far right.


The OCS commandant, Colonel James Harrison (later Major General Sir), interviewed us on our final day and he soberly told me that I had achieved good results but, in the opinion of the staff, I was a ‘happy loner, independent, and not requiring or seeking company’. I have never been sure whether this was a compliment or a reprimand but it didn’t change me. A brand-new and proud second lieutenant, I was asked for my preferred choice of corps, to which I replied ‘Armour’, hoping to follow in my father’s footsteps in World War II tanks. Never ask for what you want in the Army; you’ll be sure to get the opposite. A couple of days later I went to check my name on the list on the noticeboard and saw I had been allocated to Infantry Corps – grunts, as the Yanks called us in Vietnam, foot sloggers – and I was ordered to report to the School of Infantry after Christmas leave. Oh well, Infantry would have been my second choice and I was to enjoy work at Seymour.


Others at Portsea were dispersed to a variety of schools and corps such as the School of Armour at Puckapunyal, and the School of Artillery at North Head in Sydney. At the School of Infantry I was one of the smallest men there and maybe that spurs you onward harder and faster. With Cadets and National Service background experience, it was fairly easy to qualify well in all subjects, which included map reading, tactics and field work with weapons such as pistols, rifles, machine guns and mortars.


Classroom discussions were thought-provoking. We used cloth models of landscapes, including rivers, streams and the like. These days the Army conducts exercises of that ilk in fibreglass and foam. There were little model tanks and toy soldiers to move around in the mock-ups. All this exercised the brain so hopefully we would be able to make an expert appreciation of any given military situation. I found that usually I was able to come up with the best answer in the shortest possible time. Map reading was my favourite subject, an art where you could figure out complicated terrain and work out exactly where you are. We had no such luxury as GPS in 1953.


For whatever reason, maybe my background in rural Tasmania, maybe my Cadet and National Service training, or maybe an inherent sense of direction, I had the ability to come out spot on, over and over. I also liked drawing things. As a youngster I had enjoyed art at school and found myself sketching cars and boats at random. I got hell from Mum and Dad once when I drew an anchor on our dining room table, actually carving it into the highly polished wood. My ability to draw accurate lines aided my map reading skills where one had to take three compass bearings to known points and carefully draw the back-bearing on the map. Normally there was a triangle of error but mine was always very small, if any. This skill has been supplemented by GPS these days, but soldiers and sailors still have to be familiar with chart work in case the GPS system fails, to avoid situations like that experienced during the Israeli war when most boats could not work out where they were because the GPS system operated by the USA Defence system had been switched off for several days. I topped the Infantry courses out of about 30 of us. My parents were pleased.


From Seymour’s fairly spartan 4 ha, 100 km from Melbourne in the scrub, we wandered over the local farming countryside concentrating on Tactical Exercises Without Troops (TEWTs). We had little to do with the nearby village. But we used to go to Melbourne for weekends. One of our senior instructors, Major Max Thirwell, owned a big old Jaguar coupe and he used to drive three or four of us young second lieutenants down to Melbourne to stay at the YMCA from Friday to Sunday nights, and he’d drive us back Monday mornings. We had a ball every time checking out the local pubs and clubs.


One of our instructors, and a good one, was a Warrant Officer who was regularly trying to catch me out on map-reading tests. I usually won with the correct answer. In Vietnam in 1966, he was with the Australian Army Training Team Vietnam (AATTV) and often visited Nui Dat. He came to my company base to renew friendships. I did not know he was involved in a money-laundering scam whereby he recruited soldiers going on leave to places like Hong Kong to change large amounts of Vietnamese piastre he gave them into US dollars, which could only be done at the Army Pay Office prior to going on leave. He would then sell them on the open market in places like Vung Tau and Saigon for double the piastre he had paid the soldiers, making a very handsome profit which he would re-invest in more US dollars, so compounding his profit. He was eventually caught out and court martialled. People get sucked in by money and, in today’s world, by money and drugs. I didn’t waste money and I managed to save a bit in Vietnam and luckily drugs weren’t around for us. I was not aware of any of my soldiers doing drugs in 1966–67, but in 2014 ‘Doc’ Dobson my Vietnam Medical Corporal named just one of our soldiers who had experimented with drugs. Instead of drugs we took our ration of cheap whisky and cigarettes down to Vung Tau, often called ‘Vungers’, and traded them with Momma-san for free drinks with lovely bar girls.


Near the end of the Seymour course we were asked where we wanted to serve. Still not having learned the game yet, I asked for sunny Queensland and was – wouldn’t you guess it – allocated a posting back to Brighton as a National Service platoon commander/ instructor – back to the bloody cold weather. But there was worse. I was to be a young officer-in-charge of former Regular Army NCOs who had been my National Service instructors, and new second lieutenants were regarded as the lowest form of officer animal, paid even less than a sergeant. To make it even more dismal for me, two of the January 1952 First Course OCS officers posted there before my arrival had not impressed. One was sacked for homosexual behaviour with Nashos, the other dismissed for drunken misconduct. Consequently OCS officers were not held in high regard.
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